
THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
SMOKE ANYWHERE USA, INC., 
3101 Hallandale Beach Boulevard 
Suite 100 
Hallandale, Florida 33009 
 

Proposed Intervenor-Plaintiff, 
 
and 
 
SOTTERA, INC., d/b/a NJOY 
15455 N. Greenway-Hayden Loop Road 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

vs. 
 
U.S. FOOD AND DRUG 
ADMINISTRATION, MARGARET 
HAMBURG, 
Commissioner of Food and Drugs, 
10903 New Hampshire Avenue 
Silver Spring, Maryland 20903 
 
and 
 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND 
HUMAN SERVICES, 
KATHLEEN SEBELIUS,  
Secretary of The Department of Health and 
Human Services 
200 Independence Avenue, SW 
Washington, D.C. 20201 
 

Defendants. 
__________________________________/ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Civil Action No. 1:09-cv-00771 (RJL) 

 
MOTION FOR SMOKE ANYWHERE USA, INC.  

TO INTERVENE AS PLAINTIFF 
 
 Smoke Anywhere USA, Inc., through undersigned counsel respectfully files this 

motion for Smoke Anywhere USA, Inc. to intervene as Plaintiff in the instant case.  For 
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the reasons set forth in the accompanying Memorandum of Points and Authorities in 

Support of Smoke Anywhere’s Motion to Intervene as Plaintiff, Smoke Anywhere USA, 

Inc. (“Smoke Anywhere”), respectfully moves to intervene as of right as to plaintiff in 

the above-captioned matter pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P.24(a)(2).  Alternatively, Smoke 

Anywhere seeks permissive intervention pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P.24(b)(1)(B).  As set 

forth in the attached memorandum, Smoke Anywhere is a competitor of plaintiff NJOY 

in the manufacture and distribution of electronic smoking devices (“E-cigarettes”) that 

are the subject of this case. 

Counsel for Smoke Anywhere has consulted with counsel for NJOY, who 

opposes this motion, stating that it believes that NJOY should intervene in an unrelated 

case, Totally Wicked-E.Liquid (USA), Inc. v. U.S. Food and Drug Administration et. al., 

Case No. 09-CV-00771-RJL, pending in this District of Colombia. 

Pursuant to Local Rule 7(m) counsel for Smoke Anywhere has also consulted 

with counsel for defendants, who indicated that they will oppose this Motion. 

Dated:  March 18, 2011 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 

By: /s/ Sean E. Foster 
Sean E. Foster 
DC Bar No. 476758 
Agnew & Foster, PLLC 
4314 Medical Parkway, Suite 101 
Austin, Texas 78756 
512-291-3483 (o) 
512-498-1133 (f) 
 
Mitchell S. Fuerst, Esq. 

  Pro hac vice Motion Pending 
Robert J. Becerra, Esq. 

  Pro hac vice Motion Pending 
Fuerst Ittleman, PL 

Case 1:09-cv-00771-RJL   Document 73    Filed 03/18/11   Page 2 of 30



 3 

1001 Brickell Bay Drive, Suite 2002 
Miami, Florida 33131 
305-350-5690 (o) 
305-371-8989 (f) 
mfuest@fuerstlaw.com 
rbecerra@fuerstlaw.com 
 
Counsel for Smoke Anywhere USA, Inc.  
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INTRODUCTION 

 Proposed Intervenor-Plaintiff Smoke Anywhere USA, Inc. (“Smoke Anywhere”), 

is an importer and distributor of “E-cigarettes”, an electronic product that allows 

consumers to inhale a nicotine vapor distilled from natural tobacco plants in a manner 

that simulates the experience of smoking traditional cigarettes.  These E-cigarettes are 

marketed, labeled, and sold for adult use as an alternative to conventional cigarettes for 

“smoking pleasure” – and not as a therapeutic product. The E-cigarettes are sold under 

the trademark “Fifty-One”.  Smoke Anywhere is a wholly owned subsidiary of Vapor 

Corp., a public company. 

 Prior to 2009, despite multiple inquiries by suppliers of E-cigarettes, FDA gave 

no indication that it believed it could assert regulatory jurisdiction over E-cigarettes 

following the U.S. Supreme Court’s holding in FDA v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco 

Corp., 529 U.S. 120, 160-61 (2000) (holding that “it is plain that Congress has not given 

the FDA the authority” to regulate tobacco products). 

 In the past three years, Smoke Anywhere has invested a large amount of time and 

treasure in bringing its product to market in the United States.  It has entered into binding 

contracts with suppliers and distributors for the purchase and sale of E-cigarettes, and has 

developed a substantial customer base.  Smoke Anywhere has imported and sold these 

products in the United States previously without any indication that FDA intended to 

assert jurisdiction to regulate the product. 

 This all changed without warning in 2009.  On July 17, 2009, FDA detained an 

import shipment of Smoke Anywhere’s E-cigarettes at the port of entry at John F. 

Kennedy Airport, Jamaica, New York.  At approximately the same time, FDA added 
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E-cigarettes and their components to an FDA “Import Alert” authorizing customs 

officials to detain them as “unapproved new drugs,” asserting that E-cigarettes are subject 

to FDA jurisdiction under the Federal Food Drug Cosmetic Act (FDCA).  It is Smoke 

Anywhere’s understanding that FDA intends to detain future shipments of its 

E-cigarettes, threatening to halt Smoke Anywhere’s business entirely and causing 

immediate severe irreparable harm to the company.  Accordingly, in addition to seeking 

intervention, Smoke Anywhere seeks to join in NJOY’s preliminary injunction. 

Intervention as of right under Fed.R.Civ.P.24(a)(2) is appropriate here because 

FDA’s improper assertion of regulatory jurisdiction over E-cigarettes, which is at the 

heart of NJOY’s claims in this action, directly threatens Smoke Anywhere’s business.  

The D.C. Circuit and this Court have made plain that parties with standing to participate 

in the action are entitled to intervene as of right under Fed.R.Civ.P.24(a) in actions that 

directly affect their economic interests.  See, e.g., Funds for Animals, Inc. v. Norton, 322 

F.3d 728, 733-34 (D.C. Cir. 2003). 

 Alternatively, Smoke Anywhere should be granted permissive intervention 

because Smoke Anywhere “has a claim…that shares with the main action a common 

question of law…” Fed.R.Civ.P. 24(b)(1)(B).  Namely, Smoke Anywhere’s claim that 

FDA’s policy and actions with respect to E-cigarettes exceed its regulatory authority, 

violate the APA rulemaking requirements, and share a common legal and factual 

connection with those brought by NJOY. 

BACKGROUND 

 This case is about the U.S. Food and Drug Administration’s (“FDA”) authority to 

regulate E-cigarettes and its detention of those products under Import Alert issued by 
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FDA.  Smoke Anywhere seeks to intervene in this action to protect its interests in 

marketing and selling its E-cigarettes in the United States.  FDA’s action to detain and 

regulate E-cigarette products exceeds its authority under the Federal Food, Drug and 

Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”), 21 U.S.C. §§ 301-399a, and violates the notice and comment 

requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 533. 

 A. Electronic Cigarettes and Smoke Anywhere’s Business 

 E-cigarettes are products that look, feel and taste like traditional cigarettes and 

give smokers all the pleasure and satisfaction of traditional smoking, without the 

inconvenience and drawbacks of ordinary cigarettes.  E-cigarettes vaporize a liquid 

nicotine mixture distilled from natural tobacco plants which is inhaled in a manner 

similar to that of inhaling actual tobacco smoke.  See Declaration of Kevin Frija attached 

as Exhibit “A”.  E-cigarettes are made up of three basic parts:  the cartridge, the heating 

element or atomizer, and the battery and electronics.  Id.  The cartridge is a disposable 

plastic container which serves as the mouthpiece of the E-cigarette and which contains 4 

major ingredients: water, propylene glycol, nicotine and glycerol.  The heating element 

vaporizes the naturally derived nicotine mixture that is ultimately inhaled by the user.  

The battery and electronics power the hearing element and monitor air flow.  See Verified 

Complaint, ¶ 9 attached hereto. 

 Smoke Anywhere is a Florida corporation that has imported E-cigarettes into the 

United State under the “Fifty-One” trademark.  See Frija Decl. at ¶ 3.  Virtually all of 

Smoke Anywhere’s revenues are derived from the importation of E-cigarettes into the 

United States.  Id.  at ¶ 4.  Smoke Anywhere has entered into binding contracts with its 

suppliers and distributors for the purchase and sale of these products.  Id., ¶ 5.  Absent a 
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reliable supply of E-cigarettes – Smoke Anywhere’s only business line – the Company’s 

business would cease to exist, the Company’s viability would be gravely threatened, and 

Smoke Anywhere would lose its customer base.  Id., ¶ 7. 

 Smoke Anywhere does not market or label its E-cigarettes for therapeutic uses – 

in particular, Smoke Anywhere’s marketing and labeling materials, including those on 

the products detained by the FDA, specifically state that the products are not smoking-

cessation devices:  “This product is not an aid for smoking cessation.  This Product in no 

way intends to diagnose, treat, cure, or mitigate any disease or condition.”  See sample 

labeling materials, Exhibit ”A” to Frija Decl.  Moreover, Smoke Anywhere takes the 

following steps to ensure that the Company’s E-cigarettes are sold and used just like 

traditional cigarettes and cigars:  All E-cigarette products are sealed in tamper-proof 

shrink wrap; Smoke Anywhere instructs retailers to follow the same age verification 

requirements applicable to sales of cigarettes and other tobacco products; and the display 

fixture for Smoke Anywhere products is designed for placement behind the sale counter, 

accessible only to the clerk and not to customers.  See Frija Decl. at ¶ 10. 

 Prior to 2009, despite multiple inquires from suppliers of E-cigarettes regarding 

the regulatory status of the product, the FDA gave no indication that it is believed it had 

any authority to regulate Smoke Anywhere’s E-cigarettes following FDA v. Brown & 

Williamson Tobacco Corp., 529 U.S. 120 (2000) (“Brown and Williamson”).   

 B. The FDA Detains Smoke Anywhere’s Products 

 FDA added E-cigarettes and their components to Import Alert 66-41 in late 2009, 

directing the U. S. Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”) to deny entry and detain 

listed products at the port of entry.  On July 17, 2009, FDA detained a large import 
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shipment of Smoke Anywhere’s products, including 5,990 kits, at John F. Kennedy 

Airport in Jamaica, New York. 

 FDA’s New York District Office issued a “Notice of FDA Action” in connection 

with the detention of Smoke Anywhere’s products asserting, among other things that 

E-cigarettes were “unapproved new drugs.”  See Exhibit “B” to Frija Decl.  It is Smoke 

Anywhere’s understanding that FDA will continue to detain its import shipments of 

E-cigarettes at the port of entry. 

ARGUMENT 

 By this Motion, Smoke Anywhere seeks to intervene in this action to protect its 

business and avoid the crippling economic harm that will result from FDA’s continued 

enforcement of its new policy.  As set forth below, Smoke Anywhere satisfies the 

requirements for intervention as of right pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 24(a) because:  (1) its 

motions is timely – the Defendants have not yet even answered NJOY’s Complaint and in 

fact have received an extension of time from the Court to do so (See D.E. No. 72 and 

Minute Order dated March 3, 2011) and no prejudice to FDA or NJOY will result from 

Smoke Anywhere joining the suit at this time; (2) Smoke Anywhere has a direct and 

substantial interest in this litigation, because FDA’s regulation of E-cigarettes applies to 

Smoke Anywhere’s own products and its detention of them at the port of entry directly 

impacts Smoke Anywhere’s business; (3) FDA’s actions threatened Smoke Anywhere’s 

economic survival; and (4) Smoke Anywhere’s interests in this matter may not 

adequately be represented by its competitor, plaintiff NJOY.  In the alternative, the Court 

should grant permissive intervention under Fed.R.Civ.P.24(b), because Smoke 

Anywhere’s claims share common questions of law and fact with those underlying 
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NJOY’s position and would not unduly delay the proceedings.  In fact, there is currently 

no scheduling order from the Court in place. 

I. SMOKE ANYWHERE IS ENTITLED TO INTERVENE AS OF RIGHT  

 Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 24(a)(2) allows intervention as of right where the 

protection of an applicant’s interest may be impaired if the lawsuit proceeds without the 

applicant.  Rule 24(a)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in pertinent 

part: 

On timely motion, the court must permit anyone to intervene who:…claims an 
interest relating to the property or transaction that is the subject of the action, and 
is so situated that disposing of the action may as a practical matter impair or 
impede the movant’s ability to protect its interest, unless existing parties 
adequately represent that interest. 

 
The D.C. Circuit applies a four-part test to determine whether an applicant is 

entitled to intervene as of right:  “(1) the timeliness of the motion; (2) whether the 

applicant claims an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of 

the action; (3) whether the applicant is so situated that the disposition of the action may 

as a practical matter impair or impede the applicant’s ability to protect that interest: and 

(4) whether the applicant’s interest is adequately represented by exiting parties.”   Fund 

for Animals, 322 F.3d at 731 (D.C. cir. 2003) (internal quotation marks and citations 

omitted).  As explained below, Smoke Anywhere’s intervention satisfies all four Rule 

24(a) requirements. 

A.  Smoke Anywhere’s Motion to Intervene is Timely 

Smoke Anywhere swiftly sought to intervene in this suit where defendants have 

yet to answer the complaint, and as such, the case is not at issue.  In fact, Defendants 

have recently received an extension of time from the Court to respond to Plaintiff 
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Sottera’s complaint. Moreover, Smoke Anywhere’s participation will not prejudice any 

party or delay the resolution of the case. 

Whether a motion to intervene is timely is determined on a case-by-case analysis 

that is left to the sound discretion of the trial court.  Sierra Club v. Van Antwerp, 523 F. 

Supp.2d 5, 10 (D.D.C. 2007).  In addition, as indicated above, Smoke Anywhere seeks to 

intervene and join NJOY’s pending action and permanent declaratory judgment for 

injunctive relief without any impact on any schedule, as the Court has not entered any 

scheduling orders, nor set a trial date.  Accordingly, Smoke Anywhere’s intervention at 

this initial state of litigation is timely. 

B.  Smoke Anywhere Has a Substantial Interest in the Subject of this 
Litigation 

Rule 24(a)(2)’s requirement that a proposed intervenor as of right has a 

substantial interest in the subject matter of the existing case is “a practical guide to 

disposing of lawsuits by involving as many apparently concerned persons as is 

compatible with efficiency and due process.”  Cook v. Boorstin, 763 F.2d 1462, 1466 

(D.C. Cir. 1985) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); Huron Envtl. Activist 

League v. EPA, 917 F. Supp. 34, 42 n. 7 (D.D.C. 1996) (same).  The D.C. Circuit and 

this Court therefore interpret this requirement liberally.  See, e.g., Am. Horse Prot. Ass’n. 

v. Veneman, 200 F.R. D. 153, 157 (D.D.C. 2001) (reviewing D.C. Circuit precedent on 

the “interest” element and concluding that the Circuit has adopted a liberal and forgiving 

standard”); Huron Envtl. Activist League, 917 F. Supp. At 42 n.7 (D.D.C. 1996). 

Smoke Anywhere’s claims here meet this standard.  NJOY’s requested relief 

makes plain that Smoke Anywhere has a direct interest “relating to the property or 

transaction” affected by the disposition of the case.  NJOY seeks a declaratory judgment 
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and a permanent injunction enjoining FDA from enforcing import restrictions on 

E-cigarettes or E-cigarette components.  As discussed supra, the import restrictions 

threaten to eliminate Smoke Anywhere’s sole business line and source of revenue.  

Likewise, the adjudication of NJOY’s request for a declaratory judgment that FDA has 

no statutory authority to regulate E-cigarettes will bear directly on Smoke Anywhere’s 

business of importing and selling E-cigarettes, as FDA is seeking to assert regulatory 

jurisdiction over the product on which that business is based.  Finally, NJOY’s request 

for the release of any E-cigarettes currently detained or seized by the U.S. Government 

pursuant to FDA’s unlawful declaration that it has jurisdiction over E-cigarettes impacts 

Smoke Anywhere’s physical property as well as it believes that its products will be seized 

if it attempts entry:  Shipments of Smoke Anywhere’s E-cigarettes have previously been 

detained and refused at the port of entry just as NJOY’s products have. 

As this Court has held, a company’s interest in supporting its business model and 

protecting its survival as a business, and its rights to its shipments detained at the port of 

entry, are protectable property interests for purposes of the Rule 24(a)(2) analysis:  “[t]he 

proposed intervenor-defendant’s interest in protecting his business is cognizable in that it 

is legally sufficient for involvement in the lawsuit, and would not hinder its disposition.”  

PETA v. Babbitt, 151 F.R.D. 6, 8 (D.D.C. 1993).  Here, “the [intevenor] applicant[] 

claim[s] an ‘interest’ in the litigation that is essentially the same as the interest claimed 

by the existing plaintiff: …that the Final Rule being challenged will destroy their 

business model.”  AmeriDream, Inc. v. Jackson, 246 F.R.D. 37, 38 (D.D.C. 2007) 

(granting motion to intervene as of right).  See also Mova Pharm., 140 F.3d at 1074-75 

(reversing denial of firm’s request to intervene to “challenge a competitor’s entry into its 
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market”); County of San Miguel v. MacDonald, 244 F.R.D. 36, 44-46 (D.D.C. 2007) 

(“demonstrat[ion] that there is a real likelihood [intervenors] will sustain a direct injury” 

if the action is resolved unfavorably held sufficient to support intervention as of right). 

C.  This Action Threatens Smoke Anywhere’s Ability to Protect its         
       Interests 

 Smoke Anywhere need only show that an unfavorable disposition of the action 

“may as a practical matter impair or impede” its interest in the litigation.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 

24(a)(2) (emphasis added).  The D.C. Circuit interprets this language to require a court to 

look at the ‘”practical consequences’” of denying intervention when evaluating an 

intervention request.  Fund for Animals, 322 F.3d at 735 (quoting Natural Res. Def. 

Council v. Costle, 561 F.2d 904, 909 (D.C. Cir. 1977)).  

Here, an adverse result in this case would likely be binding on Smoke Anywhere 

– a determination that FDA has regulatory jurisdiction over E-cigarettes would affect 

Smoke Anywhere even if it were not participating in this suit by subjecting its products to 

FDA regulation and, potentially, to the crippling effects of an import ban.  The D.C. 

Circuit has recognized that where, as here, the decision in an action would affect a 

proposed intervenor, that intervenor’s interests may be impaired.  See Cook, 763 F.2d at 

1470 (holding that the potential stare decisis value of construction of the governing 

statute and relevant findings are a “substantial” interest of an intervenor that could be 

impaired by the litigation).  Moreover, because the disposition of this case could 

significantly affect the viability of Smoke Anywhere’s future business, Smoke Anywhere 

must be permitted to participate in this case to protect its interest.  See, e.g., Fund for 

Animals, 322 F.3d at 735 (holding that loss of revenues from an injunction satisfies the 

third prong of the Rule 24(a)(2) test). 

Case 1:09-cv-00771-RJL   Document 73    Filed 03/18/11   Page 13 of 30



 11 

D. Smoke Anywhere’s Interests May Not Adequately Be Represented by 
NJOY 

Finally, Smoke Anywhere’s interests in this proceeding may not adequately be 

represented by its competitor, plaintiff NJOY.  A showing that existing representation is 

inadequate “is not onerous.”  Hardin v. Jackson, 600 F. Supp.2d 13, 16 (D.D.C. 2009); 

Dimond v. District of Columbia, 792 F.2d 179, 192 (D.C. Cir. 1986).  “The applicant 

need only show that representation of his interest ‘may be’ inadequate, not that 

representation will in fact be inadequate.”  Hardin, 600 F.Supp.2d at 16 (quotations 

omitted).  “[P]etitioner[s] ordinarily should be allowed to intervene unless it is clear that 

the existing party will provide adequate representation for the absentee.”  United States v. 

Amer. Tel. & Tel. Co., 642 F.2d 1285, 1293 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (quotations omitted). 

Here, NJOY may not adequately represent Smoke Anywhere’s interest because 

NJOY’s economic interests relate solely to the set of products it sells, rather than to the 

electronic cigarette industry as a whole or to Smoke Anywhere’s products in particular.  

In litigating this issue, NJOY would not necessarily have an interest in protecting Smoke 

Anywhere’s business especially since NJOY is essentially a competitor in the 

marketplace.  As this Court has explained, even if the parties have “an extensive track 

record of cooperation,” the mere fact that one party’s interests are narrower or slightly 

different than another warrants a grant of intervention.  Atl. Sea Island Group LLC v. 

Connaughton, 592 F.Supp.2d 1, 7 (D.D.C. 2008); see also S. Utah Wilderness v. Norton, 

2002 WL 3261798, at *5 (D.D.C. June 28, 2002) (because defendants represent the 

“broad public interest” they “will not adequately represent the specific interests or 

economic concerns of Yates Petroleum”); Country of San Miguel, 244 F.R.D. at 48 

(granting request to intervene, noting “although the FWS and the intervenor-applicants 
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share a common interest – upholding the FWS’s listing determination…even a shared 

general agreement does not necessarily ensure agreement in all particular respects” 

(quotations committed).  

 Therefore, because Smoke Anywhere has submitted a timely request to intervene, 

has a direct interest in litigation concerning FDA’s approval status of its sole product and 

has interests that may be impaired by this action and that may no adequately be 

represented by the existing plaintiff, its request to intervene “easily satisfies the 

requirements of [Federal rule of Civil Procedure 24(a)(2)].”  Apotex, Inc. v. FDA, 508 F. 

Supp. 2d 78, 80 n.2 (D.D.C. 2007).  Accordingly, Smoke Anywhere is entitled to 

intervene in this action as of right. 

II. ALTERNATIVELY, THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT PERMISSIVE  
INTERVENTION 

 
 While Smoke Anywhere should be permitted to intervene as of right, Smoke 

Anywhere additionally qualifies for permissive intervention under Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 24(b)(1)(B).  The purpose of permissive intervention is “to provide a 

mechanism of intervention where the more stringent requirements of  [intervention as of 

right] are not satisfied.”  Cook v. Boorstin, No. 82-0400, 1983 WL 329, at *5 (D.D.C. 

Oct. 4, 1983).  Permissive intervention is permitted upon timely application where (i) an 

applicant “has a claim or defense that shares with the main action a common question of 

law or fact;” and (ii) the proposed intervention will no “unduly delay or prejudice the 

adjunction of the original parties’ rights.”  Fed.R.Civ.P.24(b)(3); Butte County v. Hogen, 

2008 WL 2410407, at *2 (D.D.C. June 16, 2008). 

 Smoke Anywhere easily meets these requirements for permissive intervention.  

First, Smoke Anywhere’s claims and defenses share common questions of law and fact 
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with the main action, namely, the propriety of FDA’s assertion of regulatory jurisdiction 

over E-cigarettes, its issuance of an “import alert” resulting in detention of E-cigarette 

shipments, and its pursuit of a regulatory “process” not in accordance with requirements 

of the APA.  “This requirement [for a common legal or factual question] is satisfied when 

‘[t]he facts necessary to assert[the intervenor’s] claim are essentially the same facts as 

those necessary to establish [an existing party’s] claim.’”  Butte County, 2008 WL 

2410407, at *2 (quoting MeWuk Indian Cmty. v. Kempthorne, 246 F.R.D. 315, 320 

(D.D.C.) 2007).  That is evident here:  Plaintiffs challenge FDA’s authority to regulate 

E-cigarettes that make no therapeutic claims, and the propriety of its administrative 

actions under the APA.  These issues will be determined largely on common facts and 

legal principles. 

 Second, intervention at this early stage of the litigation will not unduly delay the 

proceedings.  There is no trial date, nor even a schedule set by the Court. Defendants 

have recently filed a motion for extension of time to respond to Sottera’s Complaint.  Nor 

will NJOY or FDA suffer any prejudice to the adjudication of their rights.  Smoke 

Anywhere submits that to the contrary, the prospect of a fair and full adjudication would 

be enhanced by Smoke Anywhere’s participation. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Smoke Anywhere should be permitted to intervene in 

this action as of right pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 24(a)(2).  Alternatively, 
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 permissive intervention should be granted pursuant to Rule 24(b)(1)(B). 

Dated:  March 18, 2011 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 

By: /s/ Sean E. Foster  
Sean E. Foster 
DC Bar No. 476758 
Agnew & Foster, PLLC 
4314 Medical Parkway, Suite 101 
Austin, Texas 78756 
512-291-3483 (o) 
512-498-1133 (f) 
 

Mitchell S. Fuerst, Esq. 
 Pro hac vice Motion Pending 
Robert J. Becerra, Esq. 
 Pro hac vice Motion Pending 
Fuerst Ittleman, PL 
1001 Brickell Bay Drive, Suite 2002 
Miami, Florida 33131 
305-350-5690 (o) 
305-371-8989 (f) 
mfuest@fuerstlaw.com 
rbecerra@fuerstlaw.com 
 
Counsel for Smoke Anywhere USA, Inc.  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
  
 I hereby certify that on this 18th day of March, 2011, I caused a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing Motion to Intervene and Memorandum of Points and Authorities to be served via 

first-class mail, postage prepaid, upon the following: 

 
 
Phillip J. Perry 
LATHAM & WATKINS, LLP 
555 11th Street, NW 
Suite 1000 
Washington, DC 20004 
 
Drake S. Cutini 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
Office of Consumer Litigation 
P.O. Box 386 
Washington, DC 20044 
 
 
      /s/ Sean E. Foster   
      Agnew & Foster, PLLC 
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THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 


 
SMOKE ANYWHERE USA, INC., 
3101 Hallandale Beach Boulevard 
Suite 100 
Hallandale, Florida 33009 
 


Proposed Intervenor-Plaintiff, 
 
and 
 
SOTTERA, INC., d/b/a NJOY 
15455 N. Greenway-Hayden Loop Road 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
 


Plaintiff, 
 


vs. 
 
U.S. FOOD AND DRUG 
ADMINISTRATION, MARGARET 
HAMBURG, 
Commissioner of Food and Drugs, 
10903 New Hampshire Avenue 
Silver Spring, Maryland 20903 
 
and 
 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND 
HUMAN SERVICES, 
KATHLEEN SEBELIUS,  
Secretary of The Department of Health and 
Human Services 
200 Independence Avenue, SW 
Washington, D.C. 20201 
 


Defendants. 
__________________________________/ 


 
 
 
 
 
 
Civil Action No. 1:09-cv-00771 (RJL) 


 
VERIFIED INTERVENOR COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND 


INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
 
 Plaintiff, Smoke Anywhere USA, INC., (“Smoke Anywhere”), through 


undersigned counsel, for its Complaint against the U. S. Food and Drug Administration 
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(“FDA”), Margaret Hamburg, Commissioner, and the U.S. Department of Health and 


Human Services, and Kathleen N. Sebelius, Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health 


and Human Services (collectively, “DHHS”) hereby alleges as follows:  


Nature of the Action 


1. This is an action for declaratory and injunctive relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 


§ 2201 and 5 U.S.C. § § 702-706.  to enjoin FDA from improperly exceeding its statutory 


and delegated authority by attempting to regulate electronic cigarettes (“E-cigarettes”) 


and their accessories as drug, devices or drug device combination products under the 


Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C. § § 301-399a (“FDCA”).  Furthermore, 


this is an action to enjoin the FDA from banning the importation of E-cigarettes into the 


United States, where such E-cigarettes and their accessories do not contain or otherwise 


make any claims regarding therapeutic uses of such products. 


Parties 


2. Plaintiff Smoke Anywhere is a Florida corporation with its principal place 


of business located at 3101 Hallandale Beach Boulevard, Suite 100, Hallandale, Florida 


33009.   Smoke Anywhere is a wholly owned subsidiary of Vapor Corporation, a publicly 


traded company.  Smoke Anywhere is referred to herein as “Smoke Anywhere”. 


3. Defendant U. S. Food and Drug Administration is an operating division of 


Defendant U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.   FDA has responsibility, 


among other things, for ensuring that certain drugs and medical devices sold within the 


United States are safe and effective.  The headquarters and principal place of business of 


the defendant FDA is 10903 New Hampshire Avenue, Silver Spring, Maryland 20903.  
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The headquarters and principal place of business of Defendant DHHS is at 200 


Independence Avenue SW, Washington, D.C. 20201. 


Jurisdiction and Venue 


4. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims pursuant 


to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 28 U.S.C. § 2201, and 5 U.S.C. § 706. 


5. This court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants FDA, DHHS, and 


Commissioner Margaret Hamburg, and Secretary Kathleen Sebelius in their official 


capacities, as each is an agency or official of the United States Government. 


6. Venue is proper in the court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) because 


Defendant DHHS resides within this district.  


Factual Allegations 
Smoke Anywhere’s Products 


7. Smoke Anywhere is a Florida corporation that markets and imports 


electronic smoking devices. It distributes and imports E-cigarettes under the trademark 


“Fifty-One”. 


8. An E-cigarette is an alternative to traditional smoked tobacco products and 


is designed to replicate the adult experience of smoking without combustion or the 


inhalation of many of the cancerous byproducts that results from smoking traditional 


cigarettes. E-cigarettes function by vaporizing a liquid nicotine mixture that, in the case 


of Smoking Anywhere's product, is naturally derived from tobacco plants. Once the 


nicotine mixture is vaporized, the user may inhale the nicotine vapor in a manner similar 


to that of inhaling actual tobacco smoke, but without the fire, flame, tar, carbon 


monoxide, ash, known carcinogenic byproducts, or smell found in traditional cigarettes. 
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9. E-cigarettes are made up of three basic parts: nicotine cartridge, the 


heating element or atomizer, and the battery and electronics.  The cartridge is a 


disposable plastic container that serves as the mouthpiece of the E-cigarette and contains 


four major ingredients: water, propylene glycol, nicotine and glycerol,.  The heating 


element vaporizes naturally-derived nicotine mixture to form the vapor that is inhaled by 


the user.  Finally, the battery and electronics power the heating element and monitor air 


flow.  Each of the parts of an E-cigarette is designed to look like an actual cigarette; the 


E-cigarette is functionally equivalent to a traditional smoking experience.   


10. When a user inhales on an E-cigarette, the air flow is detected by the 


device’s electronics and activates the heating element within the E-cigarette.  When the 


heating element is activated, the natural liquid nicotine mixture is vaporized, and the user 


inhales the nicotine vapor.  The vapor contains a flavoring designed to simulate the flavor 


and feel of tobacco smoke, but no flame, combustion, smoke, or ash is produced by the 


use of an E-cigarette. 


11. Smoke Anywhere does not market its E-cigarettes for any therapeutic 


purpose (e.g., as a smoking cessation aid) or otherwise in a manner that could invoke 


FDA jurisdiction.   


12. Smoke Anywhere imports one hundred percent of its supply of 


E-cigarettes from overseas manufactures, and is not aware of any domestic manufacturer 


of E-cigarettes or their component parts.  Virtually all of Smoke Anywhere’s revenues 


are derived from the importation and distribution of E-cigarettes in the United States, and 


if Smoke Anywhere could not obtain a reliable supply of E-cigarettes – its only product 


line – its viability as a business would be most likely destroyed. 
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13. As part of its distribution network, Smoke Anywhere has binding 


contracts with overseas suppliers and manufacturers of E-cigarettes.  


The FDA Lacks Jurisdiction to Regulate E-cigarettes 


14. Throughout most of FDA’s history and until 1995, the Agency has 


explicitly and repeatedly disclaimed the authority and jurisdiction to regulate tobacco 


products as nicotine delivery mechanisms.  During this period, Congress debated on 


several occasions whether to extend FDA’s jurisdiction to include such products.  Each 


time, however, Congress determined that FDA should not have jurisdiction over tobacco 


products. 


15. In or around 1995, FDA reversed its long-standing policy and asserted that 


it had jurisdiction to regulate cigarettes and tobacco products as nicotine delivery devices.  


At that time, FDA proposed and adopted binding regulations relating to the marketing 


and sale of cigarettes and tobacco products. 


16. In 2000, the Supreme Court of the United States, in Food & Drug 


Administration v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 529 U.S. 120 (2000), held that 


Congress did not intend the FDCA to grant the FDA jurisdiction to regulate cigarettes or 


tobacco products as nicotine delivery devices. 


The FDA Attempts to Assert Jurisdiction Over E-cigarettes 


17. While thwarted by the Supreme Court in its initial attempts to regulate 


cigarettes and tobacco products, beginning in approximately 2008 and continuing through 


the present, FDA nevertheless has attempted to regulate the importation, distribution, and 


sale of E-cigarettes in the United States. The electronic cigarette industry remains in its 


infancy, as the creation of E-cigarettes was only recently made possibly by advances in 
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micro-atomizer technology. Indeed, the FDA's regulatory interest in E-cigarettes has 


coincided with a period of exponential growth in the electronic cigarette industry in the 


United States. 


18. FDA's interest in E-cigarettes led to the apparent adoption of a new, 


internal FDA policy that includes the classification of E-cigarettes and accessories as 


unapproved new drugs, devices, and/or drug-device combination products based on the 


inherent characteristics of E-cigarettes and their accessories. In 2009 and 2010, the FDA 


made repeated public statements that it now considered E-cigarettes to be drug-device 


combination products that fell within the FDA's regulatory purview under Chapter V of 


the FDCA. 


19. Upon information and belief, in early 2009, the FDA added E-cigarettes to 


Import Alert 66-41 and thereby directed U.S. Customs and Border Protection to reject the 


entry of E-cigarettes and their accessories into the United States. An import alert advises 


FDA field offices of potential issues relating to particular products. Specifically, Import 


Alert 66-41 stated that E-cigarettes were unapproved drugs and/or misbranded drugs. 


FDA's action in this respect constitutes a substantive, binding regulation. 


20. Upon information and belief, at no time before the FDA added E-


cigarettes and accessories to Import Alert 66-41 was the proposed action published in the 


Federal Register. Neither was Smoke Anywhere or any other manufacturer, importer, or 


distributor of E-cigarettes allowed to participate in FDA's rulemaking process by 


submitting its written views or being allowed to make oral arguments before the FDA. 


With the exception of this litigation, no such opportunity has ever formally been afforded 


any such entity since the addition of E-cigarettes to the FDA's import alerts. 
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21. Following several seizures of its products on grounds that they constituted 


unapproved new drugs and/or devices, on April 28, 2009, Smoking Everywhere, Inc., 


another importer and distributor of E-cigarettes, filed this lawsuit, and sought declaratory 


relief and permanent injunction against FDA's misclassification and repeated seizures of 


its products.  


22. While Smoking Everywhere's motion for preliminary injunction against 


the FDA was pending in this Court, on June 22, 2009, the Family Smoking Prevention 


and Tobacco Control Act, Pub. L. No. 111-31, 123 Stat. 1776 ("Tobacco Act"), was 


enacted. The Tobacco Act amended the FDCA to explicitly grant to the FDA, for the first 


time, statutory authority to regulate "tobacco products" and the advertising and promotion 


of such products. The Tobacco Act defines "tobacco product" in relevant part as "any 


product made or derived from tobacco that is intended for human consumption, including 


any component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product." 21 U.S.C. § 321(rr)(1). The 


term "tobacco product" thus encompasses E-cigarettes, such as those imported and 


distributed by Smoke Anywhere, that contain nicotine naturally derived from tobacco 


leaves. The term "tobacco product" explicitly excludes "an article that is a drug under [21 


U.S.C. § 321(g)(1)}, a device under [21 U.S.C. § 321(h)], or a combination product 


described in [21 U.S.C. § 353(g)]." 


23. The Tobacco Act also provides that tobacco products are to be regulated 


by the FDA under the new Chapter IX of the FDCA and "shall not be subject to the 


provisions" of Chapter V ("Drugs and Devices"). 21 U.S.C. § 387a(a). Further, the FDA 


is expressly prohibited from "banning all cigarettes, all smokeless tobacco products, all 


little cigars, all cigars other than little cigars, all pipe tobacco, or all roll-your-own 
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tobacco products" and from "requiring the reduction of nicotine yields of a tobacco 


product to zero." 21 U.S.C. § 387g(d)(3). 


24. Following the enactment of the Tobacco Act, this Court granted a 


preliminary injunction in this action. In its opinion, the Court is observed as follows: 


FDA says that the electronic cigarettes marketed by plaintiffs are a drug-
device combination and should therefore be excluded from the Tobacco Act's 
definition of "tobacco product" because the labeling and promotional materials 
"represent and suggest that the product will provide the same drug effects as 
cigarettes."…Because plaintiffs' electronic cigarettes are to be used, like 
conventional cigarettes, as a means for delivering nicotine and because 
consumers and scientists widely believe that nicotine has drug-like effects…, 
FDA contends that plaintiffs' electronic cigarettes are intended to affect the 
structure or function of the body…As a result, they qualify as a drug-device 
combination, not as a tobacco product. Put simply, this argument is 
bootstrapping run amuck. 
 


That electronic cigarettes are devices for delivering nicotine and are 
intended to have the same effect on the structure and function of the body as 
cigarettes is hardly a basis for classifying electronic cigarettes as a drug-device 
combination, thereby excluding them from the definition of "tobacco product." 
If it were, then traditional cigarettes would be excluded as well. Indeed, any 
tobacco product containing nicotine and claiming to have some pharmacological 
effect would be excluded. Because this result would effectively dismantle the 
existing regulatory wall Congress erected between tobacco products and drug 
device combinations, I can easily infer that Congress did not intend tobacco 
products to be drugs merely because they deliver nicotine, 
…. 
 


…FDA does not contend that the electronic cigarettes marketed by 
plaintiffs are intended to affect the structure or function of the body in any way 
materially different from traditional cigarettes. Indeed, by FDA's own 
admission, Smoking Everywhere markets its product as providing "the same 
drug effects on the structure and function of the human body as 
cigarettes."…Likewise, NJOY markets its product as providing "all the 
pleasures of smoking."…Because plaintiffs sell their electronic cigarette 
products for customary recreational use, those products (just like traditional 
cigarettes) are properly excluded from the meaning of drug or device under the 
FDCA. 


 
Opinion at D.E. No. 54.  
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25. This Court went on to note: 
 


In sum, absent substantial evidence of the manufacturer's objective intent 
that its electronic cigarettes affect the structure or function of the body in a way 
distinguishable from "customarily marketed" tobacco products or that its 
electronic cigarettes have the therapeutic purpose of treating nicotine 
withdrawal, there is no basis for FDA to treat electronic cigarettes, as they are 
marketed by the plaintiffs in this case, as a drug-device combination when all 
they purport to do is offer consumers the same recreational effects as a regular 
cigarette. Thus, the plaintiffs are substantially likely to succeed on their claim 
that FDA cannot regulate and thereby exclude their electronic cigarettes from 
the United States on the basis that those products are an unapproved drug-
device combination under the FDCA. 
 


This case appears to be yet another example of FDA's aggressive efforts to 
regulate recreational nicotine products as drugs or devices under the FDCA. 
Ironically, notwithstanding that Congress has now taken the unprecedented step 
of granting FDA jurisdiction over those products, FDA remains undeterred. 
Unfortunately, its tenacious drive to maximize its regulatory power has resulted 
in its advocacy of an interpretation of the relevant law that I find, at first blush, 
to be unreasonable and unacceptable. 
 
Opinion, D.E. No. 54. 


 
26. Following this Court's granting of a preliminary injunction in this action, 


the FDA appealed.  The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia 


Circuit affirmed this Court's decision on December 7, 2010, holding that, "[t]ogether, 


Brown & Williamson and the Tobacco Act establish that the FDA cannot regulate 


customarily marketed tobacco products under the FDCA's drug/device provisions."  


Sottera, Inc. v. FDA, 627 F.3d 891, 2010 U.S. App. LEXIS 24883, at *18 (D.C. Cir. 


2010).  


FDA’s Detention and Refusal of  
Smoke Anywhere’s E-cigarettes 


 
27. On July 17, 2009, the FDA formally detained a shipment of 5,990 pieces 


of Smoke Anywhere’s E-cigarettes at John F. Kennedy Airport in Jamaica, New York.  


See Notice of FDA Action attached as Exhibit “A”.  Subsequently, on October 22, 2009, 
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the FDA formally refused entry of Smoke Anywhere’s shipment into the United States.  


See Notice of FDA Action and Refusal, attached as Exhibit “B”.  The Notice of Action 


from the FDA states that the shipment was refused entry because it was an “unapproved 


new drug” and “appears to be a new drug without an approved new drug application”.   


28. Upon information and belief, FDA will continue to order that all import 


shipments of E-cigarettes be denied entry into the United States until such time that 


E-cigarettes have been approved by FDA as a new drug within the meaning of section 


201 of the FDCA, or to the extent that E-cigarettes are imported by companies or persons 


that are not parties to this Court’s preliminary injunction. 


29. FDA classification of E-cigarettes threatens the continued viability of 


Smoke Anywhere, which receives virtually all of its revenue from the distribution and 


sale of imported E-cigarettes.  The FDA’s un-promulgated policy is causing immediate 


harm not only to Smoke Anywhere’s business, but also its contracts with its suppliers and 


distributors.  Without the ability to import E-cigarettes, Smoke Anywhere cannot sell or 


distribute any of its products in the United States, thereby causing a massive loss in 


revenues and threatening to destroy Smoke Anywhere’s business. 


30. Other than review in this Court, no sufficient avenue for redress exists for 


Smoke Anywhere to prevent the imminent irreparable harm resulting from the Import 


Alert.  Without judicial intervention, FDA will apparently continue to assert unauthorized 


control over Smoke Anywhere and, perhaps the entire E-cigarette industry, by improperly 


characterizing its products as smoking cessation products, and/or “drugs” or “drug 


delivery devices,” or “drug-device combinations.” 
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31. Smoke Anywhere seeks both a preliminary and permanent injunction 


prohibiting FDA from enforcing Import Alert 66-41 with respect to Smoke Anywhere 


E-cigarettes and from taking any other action to regulate Smoke Anywhere E-cigarettes.  


Smoke Anywhere also requests the issuance of a declaratory judgment that FDA’s 


conduct in regulating or attempting to regulate E-cigarettes, that make no therapeutic 


claims, as a drug device is invalid and unlawful. 


COUNT I  
(The FDA Assertion of Jurisdiction Over E-cigarettes is Ultra Vires) 


32. Smoke Anywhere incorporates paragraphs 1-31 above by reference as it 


fully set forth herein. 


33. FDA has no authority under the FDCA or any other relevant statute or 


regulation to assert jurisdiction over E-cigarettes because Congress and the United States 


Supreme Court have expressly prohibited the Agency from regulating tobacco products 


marketed for smoking pleasure without therapeutic claims.  The Supreme Court 


determined that the delivery and use of nicotine through tobacco products is beyond the 


scope of FDA’s authority under the FDCA. 


34. FDA has no authority under the FDCA or any other relevant statute or 


regulation with respect to E-cigarettes because E-cigarettes are not “drugs,” “drug 


delivery systems,” or “drug device combinations” under 21 U.S.C. § 321(g). 


35. Indeed, Smoke Anywhere’s products are not labeled or marketed for any 


therapeutic purpose or to provide any other medical benefit.  Rather, they are marketed as 


an alternative to traditional cigarettes to provide the user the same pleasures of smoking. 


36. FDA’s action is asserting jurisdiction over E-cigarettes is therefore “in 


excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations of statutory right,” and is further 
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contrary to the public interest.  5 U.S.C. § 706(2) (C).  FDA’s assertion of authority is 


unlawful, and any regulations or policies stemming from its unlawful conduct must be set 


aside in accordance with Section 706(2) of the Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”). 


5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 


37. Additionally, any FDA enforcement resulting from its declaration of 


jurisdiction over E-cigarettes as unapproved drugs or drug delivery devices should be 


preliminarily enjoined pending judicial review of such actions pursuant to Section 705 of 


the APA. 


38. As a direct and proximate result of FDA’s unlawful acts, Smoke 


Anywhere has been seriously injured and faces irreparable harm as alleged in this 


Complaint, in that its shipments of E-cigarettes were detained in July of 2009 and refused 


in October 2009.  Smoke Anywhere has a real and palpable fear that the FDA will 


continue detentions and refusals of its products at ports of entry.  FDA’s improperly 


promulgated policy will greatly disrupt Smoke Anywhere’s U.S. operations. 


COUNT II 
(Failure to Comply with the Administrative Procedures Act) 


39. Smoke Anywhere incorporates paragraphs 1-31 above by reference as it 


fully set forth herein. 


40. As a federal agency, FDA is required to follow and apply all laws, rules, 


and regulations in a uniform manner and in such a way as to provide for due process for 


citizens of the United States. 


41. FDA is charged by Congress with enforcing the FDCA and several other 


public health laws.  Congress has permitted FDA to implement and apply the FDCA 


through the lawfully promulgated regulations of the Code Federal Regulations.  Any final 
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rule or regulation issued by an administrative agency that affects a substantive change in 


the law must be adopted pursuant to the required notice and comment procedures of the 


APA.  5 U.S.C. § § 553-559. 


42. Import Alert 66-41, which inter alia, directed the CBP to reject the entry 


of “Electronic Cigarettes and Electronic Cigarette Components,” as unapproved drugs or 


drug delivery devices is effectively a binding, substantive rule that imposes obligations 


on other parties and significantly affects the interests of Smoke Anywhere and others in 


the electronic cigarette industry. 


43. FDA did not provide opportunity for notice and comment pursuant to the 


APA before classifying E-cigarettes as a new drug, a drug delivery devise, or a drug-


device combination.  FDA neither published notice of the new rule in the Federal register 


nor served personal notice on the parties affected by the un-promulgated rule. 


44. FDA’s failure to comply with the procedures required by law is a violation 


of Section 706 of the APA and thus renders its actions unlawful. 


45. In addition, FDA has not established a rational nexus between the addition 


of E-cigarettes to Import Alert 66-41 and the Congressional mandate empowering the 


FDA to ensure the medical devices and medical products sold within the United States 


are safe and effective. 


46. FDA has had a custom and practice of not interfering with the importation 


of E-cigarettes and other tobacco products that are outside of FDA’s jurisdiction.  With 


its addition of E-cigarettes to Import Alert 66-41, FDA has departed from precedent 


without cause, good reason, and notice. 
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47. FDA’s addition of E-cigarettes to Import Alert 66-41 is an “arbitrary” and 


“capricious” agency action because it departs from precedent without benefit of notice, 


public hearing, and good cause. 


48. FDA’s addition of E-cigarettes to Import Alert 66-41 is an “arbitrary” and 


“capricious” agency action because it seeks to treat the non-therapeutic use of nicotine in 


E-cigarettes differently than its use in traditional tobacco products. 


49. This conduct by FDA is ongoing and immediate.  As a result of the 


ongoing conduct of FDA, Smoke Anywhere has been harmed and is being harmed in 


that: (a) Smoke Anywhere receives virtually all of its revenue from imported 


E-cigarettes, and Smoke Anywhere has no available domestic manufacturers; (b) Smoke 


Anywhere will lose the ability to fulfill its outstanding  obligations and contracts with its 


suppliers and distributors; (c) Import Alert 66-41 threatens the ongoing viability of 


Smoke Anywhere; and (d) the inability to import E-cigarettes will lead to Smoke 


Anywhere having to terminate its distributors and/or dismiss employees whose work 


relates to the retail sale and distribution of these products. 


50. As a direct and proximate result of FDA’s unlawful acts, Smoke 


Anywhere has been seriously injured and faces irreparable harm as alleged in this 


Complaint. 


51. Consequently, FDA’s issuance and enforcement of Import Alert 66-41 


must be enjoined pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A) and (D).  


COUNT III 
(Declaratory Judgment) 


52. Smoke Anywhere incorporates paragraphs 1-31 above by reference as is 


fully set forth herein. 
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53. Defendants’ actions are in violation of federal statute and regulations, and 


are contrary to this Court’s preliminary injunction, to the extent the Court finds it 


applicable to Smoke Anywhere. 


54. Smoke Anywhere is experiencing harm from Defendants’ illegal actions. 


55. This conduct by FDA is ongoing and immediate.  As a result of the 


ongoing conduct of FDA, Smoke Anywhere has been harmed and is being harmed in 


that: (a) Smoke Anywhere receives virtually all of its revenue from imported 


E-cigarettes, and Smoke Anywhere has no available domestic manufacturers; (b) Smoke 


Anywhere will lose the ability to fulfill its outstanding obligations and contracts with its 


suppliers and distributors; (c) Import Alert 66-41 threatens the ongoing viability of 


Smoke Anywhere; and (d) the inability to import E-cigarettes will lead to Smoke 


Anywhere having to terminate its distributors and/or dismiss employees whose work 


relates to the retail and distribution of these products. 


56. Smoke Anywhere requests the Court to: (1) declare that the actions of 


FDA as set forth in this Complaint are contrary to the language of the law, are contrary to 


binding precedent of the Supreme Court of the United States, are arbitrary and capricious 


in their application, and are ultra vires; (2) enter judgment in favor of Smoke Anywhere; 


and (3) enjoin and prohibit FDA from enforcing Import alert 66-41 with respect to 


E-cigarettes, detaining E-cigarettes, or otherwise preventing the entry of E-cigarettes into 


the United States and from taking any other action to regulate E-cigarettes as unapproved 


drugs, devices or drug device combinations under the FDA that make no therapeutic 


claims.   
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 


WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court: 


A. Enter a preliminary injunction, pending a decision on the merits, that 


enjoins Defendants from detaining Smoke Anywhere’s E-cigarettes, and from enforcing 


Import Alert 66-41 with respect to E-cigarettes and E-cigarette component parts; 


B. Upon hearing the merits, enter a declaratory judgment that Defendants are 


without statutory authority to regulate E-cigarettes as drug or drug devices or 


combinations thereof under the FDCA if no therapeutic claims are made and that the 


addition of E-cigarettes to Import Alert 66-41 is invalid, unlawful, and ultra vires of 


Defendants’ authority, and further enter a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants 


from regulating E-cigarettes or E-cigarette component parts, or, in the alternative, enter a 


permanent injunction that prohibits Defendants from regulating E-cigarettes unless and 


until such time that Defendants undergo the required procedures pursuant to the APA; 


C. Award Smoke Anywhere its costs and expenses, including reasonable 


attorneys’ fees; and 


D. Award such further and additional relief as is just and proper. 


Dated:  March 18, 2011 
Respectfully submitted, 


 
 


By: /s/ Sean E. Foster 
Sean E. Foster 
DC Bar No. 476758 
Agnew & Foster, PLLC 
4314 Medical Parkway, Suite 101 
Austin, Texas 78756 
512-291-3483 (o) 
512-498-1133 (f) 
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Mitchell S. Fuerst, Esq. 
 Pro hac vice Motion Pending 
Robert J. Becerra, Esq. 
 Pro hac vice Motion Pending 
Fuerst Ittleman, PL 
1001 Brickell Bay Drive, Suite 2002 
Miami, Florida 33131 
305-350-5690 (o) 
305-371-8989 (f) 
mfuest@fuerstlaw.com 
rbecerra@fuerstlaw.com 
 
Counsel for Smoke Anywhere USA, Inc.  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


 
  
 I hereby certify that on this 18th day of March, 2011, I caused a true and correct copy of 


the foregoing Verified Intervenor Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief to be served 


via first-class mail, postage prepaid, upon the following: 


 
 
Phillip J. Perry 
LATHAM & WATKINS, LLP 
555 11th Street, NW 
Suite 1000 
Washington, DC 20004 
 
Drake S. Cutini 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
Office of Consumer Litigation 
P.O. Box 386 
Washington, DC 20044 
 
 
      /s/ Sean E. Foster   
      Agnew & Foster, PLLC 
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 Certificate Required By Lcvr 7.1 of the Local Rules of the United States District Court 


for the District of Columbia: 


 I, the undersigned, counsel of record for Proposed Intervenor-Plaintiff, Smoke Anywhere 


USA, Inc., certify that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the following parent company of 


Smoke Anywhere USA, Inc., has outstanding securities in the hands of the public. 


VAPOR CORPORATION. 


 Further, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there are no other parent companies, 


subsidiaries, or affiliates of Smoke Anywhere USA, Inc. that have any outstanding securities in 


the hands of the public. 


 These representations are made in order that judges of this court may determine the need 


for recusal. 


Dated March 18, 2011    Respectfully submitted 


 By: /s/ Sean E. Foster  
Sean E. Foster 
DC Bar No. 476758 
Agnew & Foster, PLLC 
4314 Medical Parkway, Suite 101 
Austin, Texas 78756 
512-291-3483 (o) 
512-498-1133 (f) 


 
Mitchell S. Fuerst, Esq. 


Pro hac vice Motion Pending 
Robert J. Becerra, Esq. 


         Pro hac vice Motion Pending 
Fuerst Ittleman, PL 
1001 Brickell Bay Drive, Suite 2002 
Miami, Florida 33131 
305-350-5690 (o) 
305-371-8989 (f) 
mfuest@fuerstlaw.com 
rbecerra@fuerstlaw.com 
 


Counsel for Smoke Anywhere USA, Inc.  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


 
  
 I hereby certify that on this 18th day of March, 2011, I caused a true and correct copy of 


the foregoing Rule 7.1 Certificate to be served via first-class mail, postage prepaid, upon the 


following: 


 
 
Phillip J. Perry 
LATHAM & WATKINS, LLP 
555 11th Street, NW 
Suite 1000 
Washington, DC 20004 
 
Drake S. Cutini 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
Office of Consumer Litigation 
P.O. Box 386 
Washington, DC 20044 
 
 
      /s/ Sean E. Foster   
      Agnew & Foster, PLLC 
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